
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 6TH FEBRUARY, 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

3. P/18/0054  -  Land Adjacent to 17 Beechwood 
Drive, Heolgerrig, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 18

4. P/18/0330  -  Land at East Street and Upper Union 
Street, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 19 - 34

5. P/18/0350  -  Land off Aneurin Crescent, 
Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 35 - 46

6. P/18/0392  -  Land North of Pant Industrial Estate, 
Bryniau Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 47 - 56

Information Reports

7. Appeal Decision  -  P/18/0192 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 57 - 60

8. Appeal Decision  -  P/18/0195 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 61 - 64

9. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 65 - 68



10. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  H Barrett (Chair) 
                    C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:  J Amos, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

DATE WRITTEN 25th January 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0054 17th May 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Proposed dwelling with minor 
works on the junction of 
Heolgerrig Road 

Land Adjacent To 17 
Beechwood Drive 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Mr & Mrs Griffiths  
c/o George + Co 
Hwyl Hub 
1st Floor Woodfired 
Studios 
62 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil    

 

 
Councillor Chaplin has requested that this application be presented to Committee so 
that Members can consider the access to the proposed development and potential 
overlooking issues.   
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site consists of a vacant parcel of land situated immediately to the 
west of 17 Beechwood Drive and the section of road leading to this site off 
Heolgerrig Road.  The site is located within an established residential area, with 
residential dwellings surrounding the eastern, western and northern boundaries.  It is 
irregular in its overall shape and is predominately a grassed, sloping parcel of land 
that falls from west to east.  It is bounded by the side elevation of a detached, gable 
fronted bungalow to the east, the gable end of a semi-detached dwelling to the north 
and the rear garden of a large detached dwelling to the west.  The southern 
boundary of the site is bordered by a couple of trees which abut an undeveloped 
parcel of land that is designated as a Site of Important Nature Conservation (SINC).  
Access into the site is provided via the field gate located within the far north-eastern 
corner of the plot.   
 
As a result of its topography, the site is raised in relation to the bungalow to the east 
and the semi-detached dwelling to the north.  The neighbouring bungalow (17 
Beechwood Drive) is gable fronted onto the road and its western side elevation sits 
approximately 2-3m away from the common boundary.  There is a single bathroom 
window located along its side elevation which is partially obscured from the site by 
the conifer hedge which defines the neighbours boundary.  Its rear garden extends 
to some 10m in length and is also defined by a hedgerow.  Beyond this, there is a 
small rectangular area of garden which is enclosed by post and rail fencing.  The 
northern boundary of the site faces onto the side elevation of number 132 
Heolgerrig.  This property has a driveway and garage located next to the common 
boundary.  It is enclosed from the site by the side wall of the garage and a low brick 
wall.  Its gable end, in which there is a single doorway, is offset from the boundary by 
a distance of approximately 5m.    
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for residential development, in the form of a 
single detached dwelling on a parcel of land situated to the west of 17 Beechwood 
Drive.  All details (i.e. appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) other than the 
means of access to the site are reserved for future consideration.  However, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Development Management Procedure 
(Wales) Order 2012, the application is accompanied by an illustrative layout plan.  
This shows a single dwelling being positioned near to the eastern boundary of the 
site with the front elevation orientated to the north.  Garden areas could therefore be 
provided to the side and rear of the dwelling with a driveway and on-site parking 
being located to the front.  Vehicular access to the property would be gained from 
Heolgerrig Road to the north of the site via the existing privately maintained road.    
 
The development of the site for residential purposes involves a proposal to improve 
the visibility at the junction with Heolgerrig Road.  This particular aspect would 
involve works to be undertaken to the front/side boundary of the neighbouring 
property which lies to the right of the highway junction, namely The Gables.  The 
existing hedgerow which defines the front boundary of The Gables would be cut 
back to allow for a 2m x 25m vision splay to be provided to the right of the highway 

Page 6



junction.  It is proposed that the existing 600mm high wall would be retained and a 
new 1.5m high enclosure would be provided to the front of the hedgerow.   
 
Whilst details of the scale and appearance of the dwelling are both matters 
reserved for future consideration, it has been indicated that the dimensions of 
the property would fall between: 
 
Minimum – maximum width of 7m – 9.5m 
Minimum – maximum length of 8.9m – 12m 
Minimum – maximum height of 6m – 7.2m   
 
As the site is elevated, an indicative section drawing has also been provided during 
the course of this application to show how the proposed dwelling could sit in relation 
to the adjoining bungalow.  This shows the dwelling being sited on a level 
comparable to the floor level of no.17 Beechwood Drive.  The application is also 
supported by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA) and a Speed Survey and 
Access Appraisal undertaken by Acstro Limited.     
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The planning history relating to the site is as follows:   
 
P/00/0240 Erection of dwelling (Outline) 
  Refused planning permission on 9th May 2002 for the following reason: 
 

‘The proposed development as submitted is considered unacceptable 
in that it runs contrary to Policy H2 of the adopted Merthyr Tydfil 
Borough Local Plan.  The proposal would result in increased traffic 
levels off an existing private lane at its junction with Heolgerrig Road.  
The said junction is substandard in that it lacks suitable visibility onto 
the main highway.  Any increase in traffic using the access would 
prejudice the safety of both traffic and pedestrians travelling along this 
section of Heolgerrig Road.’   

 
Reference was also made to insufficient information being provided in 
relation to land ownership.   

 
P/92/0348 1no. dwelling (Outline)     

Refused planning permission on the 1st October 1992 on highway 
safety grounds 

   
P/87/1065 Erection of dwelling  (Full) 

Refused planning permission on the 23rd February 1998.  Appeal was 
dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate.   

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader –  Raises no objection to the proposal subject  

to conditions. 
 

Page 7



Ecologist  –  Raises no objection.  
 
Environmental Health Manager  -  No response received.  
 
The Coal Authority   -  Raises no objection to the proposal subject 
 to a ground investigation condition. 
 
Welsh Water   –  Raises no objection to the proposal but 

advises that the application site is crossed by 
combined public sewers.    

 
Wales & West Utilities – Raises no objection.  
 
Western Power Distribution - No response received.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and site 
notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site.   
 
As a result of the publicity undertaken during the course of this application, letters of 
objection have been received from the residents of 17 Beechwood Drive and 132 
Heolgerrig which are summarised as follows:    
 

 The overbearing, overshadowing and overlooking impact to number 17 
Beechwood Drive; 

 Access to the site being narrow with further concern that an additional 
dwelling in this area would lead to overdevelopment; 

 Potential highway safety issues including the level of visibility at the junction 
with  Heolgerrig Road and the narrow width of the access road; 

 Concern that the development of a large, 4 bedroom home could cause noise, 
pollution and nuisance from additional vehicles, people and children in the 
area; 

 Concern regarding the mining history of the area and the potential for shafts 
to be present in close proximity to the site;  

 Maintenance issues relating to the private road. 

 Environmental impact arising from the loss of trees on the site.  
 
A letter has also been received raising concern that a proportion of the land which 
forms the application site does not lie within the applicant’s control.    
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018) is relevant to the determination 
of this planning application.  The following paragraphs are identified as being of 
particular importance:  
 

Page 8



Paragraph 2.2 notes that “All development decisions, either through development 
plans policy choices or individual development management decisions should seek 
to contribute towards the making of sustainable places and improved well-being”.  
Paragraph 2.3 expands on this highlighting that “the planning system should create 
sustainable places which are attractive, sociable, accessible, attractive, secure, 
welcoming, healthy and friendly.   
 
Paragraph 3.9 “the special characteristics of an area should be central to the design 
of a development.  The layout, from, scale and visual appearance of a proposed 
development and its relationship to its surroundings are important planning 
considerations” 
 
Paragraph 3.45 provides guidance in relation to accessibility.  It advises that ‘Spatial 
strategies should support the objectives of minimising the need to travel, reducing 
reliance on the private car and increasing walking, cycling and the use of public 
transport’.    
 
Paragraph 4.1.8 advises that the Welsh Government is committed to supporting 
sustainable forms of transport with the aim of reducing reliance on the private car.   
 
Paragraph 4.2.17 states ‘Maximising the use of suitable previously and/or 
underutilised land for housing development can assist regeneration and at the same 
time relieve pressure for development on greenfield sites’.   
 
Paragraph 4.2.22 highlights the preference for higher density development in 
suitable locations noting “Planning authorities will need to ensure that in 
development plans and through the development management process they make 
the most efficient use of land and buildings in their area.  Higher densities must be 
encouraged on sites in town centres and other sites which have good walking, 
cycling and public transport links”. 
 
The policies in PPW are supported by Technical Advice Notes (TANs). The most 
relevant TANs to this application are as follows:- 
 
TAN 12 - Design advises that the Assembly Government is strongly committed to 
achieving the delivery of good design in the built and natural environment, which is fit 
for purpose and delivers environmental sustainability, economic development, and 
social inclusion at every scale throughout Wales. 
 
Paragraph 2.6 of TAN12 states that ‘Design which is inappropriate in its context, or 
which fails to grasp opportunities to enhance the character, quality or function of an 
area, should not be accepted, as these have detrimental effects on existing 
communities’. 
 
Paragraph 4.3 of TAN12 points out ‘Understanding the site and its immediate and 
wider context is the basis for a meaningful and sustainable design response, and is 
the responsibility of all those involved in the design process.’ 
 
TAN 18 – Transport describes how to integrate land use and transport planning.  It 
explains how transport impacts should be assessed and mitigated.   

Page 9



 
Paragraph 9.16 states that ‘the type of access provided should reflect the type of 
road and the volume and character of traffic likely to use the access and the road’.  
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Policy BW1 – Development strategy – primary growth area 
Policy BW4 – Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 
Policy BW5 – Natural Heritage  
Policy BW7 – Sustainable design and placemaking 
Policy BW8 – Development and the water environment 
Policy BW12 – Development proposals and transport  
Policy AS22 – Affordable housing contributions 
Policy TB11 – Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 1 - Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No.2 – Planning Obligations  
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 4 – Sustainable Design 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 5 – Nature and Development  
 
Other guidance  
 
Manual for streets 
CSS Wales – Wales Parking Standards 2008 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The key issues that need to be considered are the acceptability or otherwise of the 
principle of development in planning policy terms, the impact of the proposed 
development on the character and appearance of the area, the impact of the 
proposed development on residential amenity and privacy and the impact of the 
proposed development on highway safety.   
 
Principle of proposed development  
 
The application site is situated within a predominately residential area within the 
designated settlement boundary.  New development is acceptable in this location 
under Policy BW4 provided it complies with other relevant policies and material 
planning considerations.   Therefore, the principle of utilising this site for residential 
purposes is acceptable, however, there are other site specific matters which require 
consideration.  These matters are addressed below. 
 
Character and appearance  
 
With regard to the character and appearance of the area, the application site 
comprises a gap in a street scene of predominantly residential properties, appearing 
as an unmaintained and undeveloped piece of grassland.  It is situated amongst a 

Page 10



small group of properties arranged informally around a private access road in a small 
cul-de-sac type of arrangement.  
 
The illustrative layout plan suggests that the proposed dwelling would be orientated 
so that its front elevation would face onto the side boundary of number 132 
Heolgerrig (the adjacent semi-detached dwelling).  While acknowledging that in this 
location, the dwelling would follow the orientation of the adjacent bungalow, turning 
the dwelling so that its front elevation would face a north-easterly direction onto the 
road, would create a more legible and attractive form of development which would 
logically round off the existing group of dwellings in this location.  It would also afford 
the rear garden area with a higher level of privacy which would be advantageous to 
the potential future occupiers of the dwelling.  However, since layout, which includes 
siting, is a reserved matter, only the principle of the dwelling can be considered at 
this stage.   
 
In this case, it is considered that a single dwelling conforming to the scale 
parameters given could readily be provided between 17 Beechwood Drive and 132 
Heolgerrig without having an adverse impact on the street scene.  Site levels will be 
an important consideration, both from a visual and a residential amenity point of 
view.  However, as demonstrated by the illustrative section drawing, the site could be 
appropriately developed by cutting into the existing slope of the land to provide a 
development which would be comparable to the level of neighbouring properties.   
 
Having regard to these matters, this infill site is considered appropriate for 
development.  Thus, subject to more detailed design considerations under a 
subsequent reserved matters application, a new dwelling could be sensitively located 
within the plot without having an adverse impact on the character or appearance of 
the surrounding locality.  
 
Residential amenity 
 
Turning to the impact of the proposal on the existing levels of residential amenity and 
privacy currently enjoyed by neighbouring properties, it is considered that a dwelling 
could be accommodated on this site without having an adverse overlooking or 
overbearing impact on neighbouring properties.  The concerns raised by the 
occupiers of the neighbouring bungalow (17 Beechwood Drive) are acknowledged.  
However, as this is an outline application with all matters other than access reserved 
for future consideration, the final siting and design of the dwelling (including the 
arrangement of windows and doors) would be subject to further control at the 
reserved matters stage 
 
Notwithstanding this, the neighbours have raised valid concerns in respect of the 
height of the land in relation to their property and the potential overbearing and 
overlooking impacts which may arise from this scheme.  Having regard to these 
concerns, discussions have taken place with the agent during the course of the 
application and this has led to the upper scale parameter for the height of the 
dwelling being reduced from 8.5m down to 7.5m.  Whilst it is difficult at this stage to 
assess in detail the full impact of the development on the neighbouring properties, 
the illustrative layout and section drawings submitted with the application are helpful 
in proving that the site could be developed on a similar level to the adjacent 

Page 11



properties so that levels of amenity and privacy could be maintained.   While these 
details are for indicative purposes only, the siting of a new dwelling in this location 
subject to careful consideration of levels, siting and the positioning of any side 
window openings, is unlikely to have a direct overlooking or overbearing impact, 
particularly upon the principal front and rear elevations of the adjoining properties.  
Also, it is considered that a dwelling could be sensitively located on this site to 
prevent an adverse overshadowing impact upon the adjacent dwellings.   
 
Notwithstanding this, in respect of residential amenity issues, if outline planning 
permission is approved then neighbouring properties will be able to scrutinise much 
more detailed plans at the reserved matters stage.   
 
Highway safety 
 
With reference to highway safety issues, and noting the representations received 
from local residents, the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has raised no 
objections to the proposal. In arriving at this conclusion, consideration has been 
given to the key issues that affect this proposal such as the visibility onto Heolgerrig 
Road, the suitability of the private access road to serve the proposed development 
and the level and frequency of traffic passing the access on Heolgerrig Road.  Whilst 
noting the historic planning history relating to the development of this site and the 
previous highway safety concerns raised in relation to the intensification of the 
narrow private access road and the available visibility at the junction with Heolgerrig 
Road, the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader remains mindful that the proposal 
relates to a single dwelling and the level of passing traffic is relatively light along this 
section of Heolgerrig Road.   
 
The Speed Survey and Access Appraisal submitted with the application has 
considered the highway implications of allowing the proposed development in detail.  
It highlights that the access onto Heolgerrig Road currently achieves sub-standard 
visibility with splays of 2m x 8m being obtained to the left of the junction and 2m x 
15m to the right.  It has also determined that the traffic volume passing the access is 
light with a total of 13 two-way vehicle movements being recorded during the 
morning peak hour (0800-0900) and 27 movements during the afternoon/evening 
peak period (1700-1800).  Based on the speed and the volume of traffic recorded, 
the survey has determined that a stopping sight distance (SSD) of 23m would be 
required for eastbound traffic (downhill) and a distance of 25m for westbound traffic 
(uphill). 
 
As highlighted above, the available visibility to the right (east) of the junction is 2m x 
15m.  Therefore, from this direction, the existing level of visibility is substandard for 
the speed of the traffic recorded along this section of Heolgerrig Road.  To the left 
(west) of the junction visibility is further restricted by the front boundary of number 
141 Heolgerrig Road.  However, as highlighted in the traffic statement, eastbound 
traffic approaching from this direction will normally be travelling on the far side of the 
road and visibility on this side is approximately 2m x 15m.   
 
If this application were to be permitted, the visibility to the right of the junction would 
be improved.  This would be achieved by making changes to the front boundary of 
the adjacent property, The Gables.  This would allow for a 2m x 25m vision splay to 

Page 12



be provided which is appropriate to the speed of the traffic recorded by the survey.  
Whilst it is acknowledged that visibility in this direction would still be partially 
obscured by a telegraph pole and highway sign and that the visibility to the left would 
still fall short of the required standard, the access is an established one and the 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not raised any concerns in this respect.  
The intensification of use of the private access road by a single dwelling would 
generate limited additional traffic.  The site itself is also considered to be of sufficient 
size to provide parking for a dwelling of the suggested scale and layout.  As 
illustrated, the proposed dwelling could be served by two parking spaces and an on-
site turning area.  Taking all matters into account, the addition of one extra dwelling 
is not considered to significantly impact on the existing highway network. 
 
It is acknowledged that the developer would need to obtain the permission of the 
adjacent land owner in order to undertake works to the front boundary of ‘The 
Gables’.  However, a suitably worded condition can be imposed to ensure that the 
development is not carried out until the highway improvement works to the junction 
are completed.  Therefore, if a scenario occurs whereby the developer cannot gain 
the necessary permission to carry out the proposed works to the boundary of the 
adjacent property, he would not be able to commence development on the proposed 
dwelling.  It should also be noted that through this application, the applicant has 
certified that the relevant notice has been served on the owner of The Gables and no 
objections have been received in this respect.   
   
Having regard to the issues listed above and notwithstanding the highway concerns 
raised by local residents, the Council’s Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has 
concluded that subject to conditions the current proposal is acceptable.  For 
clarification, it should be noted that this application differs from those previously 
refused in so far as it is supported by a Speed Survey and Access Appraisal and 
proposes improved visibility at the access onto Heolgerrig Road.   
 
Other matters 
 
Coal Mining 
 
As the site is located within a High Risk Coal Mining Development area, the 
application is accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA).  The 
submitted report which is based on a review of appropriate sources of coal mining 
and geological information highlights that the site is located within an area which is 
affected by underground mining of coal seams at a shallow depth.  The Coal 
Authority acknowledge that the site is subject to unrecorded underground coal 
mining at shallow depth and that their records indicate the presence of a recorded 
mine entry within 20m of the site.  Acknowledging these risks, they have raised no 
objection to the application providing that intrusive site investigations are carried out 
prior to the commencement of development on the site.  The purpose of this is to 
ensure that the site is safe and stable for development.   
 
Land ownership 
 
The matter raised in respect of land ownership is not a material planning 
consideration.    Nonetheless, this issue has been raised with the applicant’s agent 

Page 13



with the view of clarifying the position.  The agent has responded by providing title 
deeds confirming that the land identified by the red line boundary does fall within his 
client’s ownership.   
 
Ecology 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has been consulted on this application and has raised no 
issues relating to Ecology.  Although it is acknowledged that the site does border a 
Site of Important Nature Conservation (SINC), the illustrative plans provided with this 
application clearly show that the dwelling could be suitably accommodated within the 
middle of the site.  In this location, the Council’s Ecologist considers the 
development is unlikely to have an indirect impact on the SINC.   
 
Other matters  
 
Any damage that may occur to the private road during the course of development is 
a private matter between the applicant and the owners of the road.   
   
With regard to deliveries and construction traffic, it is appreciated that this would 
need to be managed appropriately and a condition has been recommended requiring 
details of the parking of vehicular construction traffic, the loading and unloading of 
plant and materials and the management of construction traffic.   
 
Planning Obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-
2021 consider the requirement for planning obligations and affordable housing 
contributions on all residential schemes.  On proposed residential developments of 
less than 10 units or where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision for 
affordable housing is not possible, the Council will require a financial contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere in the corresponding growth 
area of the LDP. 
 
The requirement for an affordable housing contribution towards the proposed 
development has been assessed by the Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation 
Group Leader.  In this instance no planning obligations for the provision of affordable 
housing or any other contributions have been sought as this would likely render the 
development financially unviable. In order to come to this conclusion, an assessment 
has been carried out using the Three Dragons Toolkit. 
 
Conclusion 
 
For the above reasons, the proposed residential development is considered an 
acceptable form of ‘infill’ development and subject to detailed consideration at 
reserved matters stage, would not be harmful to the character of the locality or the 
amenity of neighbouring residents.  The scheme is also considered acceptable in 
highway safety terms.   
 

The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 

Page 14



the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have 
been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh 
Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 

 

 1. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called 
"the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before any development begins and the 
development shall be carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority not later than three years from the date of this 
permission. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the 

date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 4. In conjunction with the statutory "reserved matters" details required by 

Condition 1, the following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development 
and completed in full accordance with such approved details BEFORE the 
development hereby approved is brought into use. 

  
 i) existing and proposed site levels including full cross sectional drawings; 
  

ii) proposed slab or floor levels of the dwelling to be erected together with 
relative yard, ridgeline and highway levels and those of adjacent 
buildings; 

  

Page 15



iii) the position height and material of all walls, fences and other means of 
enclosure; 

  
iv) full constructional and facing material details of any retaining walls over 

1 metre in height. 
  
 Reason - To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and protect local 

amenity interest 
 
 5. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 6. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal 

of foul and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the beneficial use of the development and 
retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
 7. Before the commencement of the dwelling hereby approved, the 

boundary enclosures to the dwelling known as 'The Gables' shall be amended 
and completed in accordance with drawing number 547-002.  Thereafter, the 
visibility splay shown on drawing numbers 547-002 and 547-001 shall be 
maintained free of any obstruction exceeding 0.9m in height thereafter   

  
 Reason - In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policies BW12 

and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 8. No development shall take place until a site investigation has been carried 

out in accordance with a methodology first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The results of the site investigation 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority before any development 
begins. If any land instability issues are found during the site investigation, a 
report specifying the measures to be taken to remediate the site to render it 
suitable for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Remedial measures shall be carried out prior to 
the first beneficial use of the development in accordance with the approved 
details and retained in perpetuity. 

  

Page 16



 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety 
remedial measures may need to be carried out. 

  
 9. If during the course of development, any unexpected land instability issues 

are found which were not identified in the site investigation referred to in 
condition 8 additional measures for their remediation in the form of a 
remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved 
additional measures which shall be retained for the period agreed in the 
remediation scheme. 

  
 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety 

remedial measures may need to be carried out. 
  
10. No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide 
for: 

  
 i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
 v) wheel washing facilities;  
 vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 

construction; and 
  
 Reason - In the interests of the highway safety and free flow of traffic and to 

protect the environment and so as to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

  
11. Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 

08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at 
no time on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of 

nuisance to occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DATE WRITTEN 25th January 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0330 22nd January 2019 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Construction of 10 dwellings with 
associated retaining walls, 
parking, access and new footpath 

Land At East Street And 
Upper Union Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Housing 
Association  
c/o Osian Roberts 
Sophia House 
28 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ    
 

 
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an ‘L’ shaped area of vacant land measuring 
approximately 0.18 of a hectare, located within the Dowlais Conversation Area. The 
site can be characterised as a grassed embankment, which slopes down from the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



north to south and is largely void of any notable features, other than a small group of 
trees and vegetation in the south-west corner.  
 
The site is bound to the north partly by the Cancer Aid Centre and Upper Union 
Street. Beyond this is the grade II listed St Johns Church (currently being converted 
into flats), the grade II listed Dowlais Works Stables and residential properties along 
Church Row. To the west of the site is a public car park and grassed embankment. 
Opposite this is the grade II listed Dowlais Public Library. To the south is East Street 
with a row of terraced properties that essentially back on to the highway. To the east 
is Commercial Street, beyond which is a prominent area of public open space. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of 10 dwellings, comprising 4, 
two bedroom semi-detached properties and a block of 6, one bedroom flats. The 
proposal also involves associated retaining works, the provision of off-street parking 
and the construction of a new footpath. 
 
The proposed dwellings would essentially be positioned in a linear form along the 
lower (southern) part of the site with a frontage onto East Street. The block of flats 
would be positioned at the eastern end of the site, where it would also provide a 
frontage onto Commercial Street. Access to these properties would be from East 
Street with at least 2 parking spaces provided on driveways for each of the semi-
detached dwellings. A small communal parking area with a total of 6 parking spaces 
would be provided for the proposed flats. 
 
Each of the pairs of semi-detached properties would measure 11.8m wide by 8.3m 
deep and 8.1m high with a pitched roof. The external finishes would comprise 
rendered elevations with slate roofs. These dwellings would be of a modest design 
incorporating pitched roof canopies above timber front doors and the windows would 
have a vertical rhythm. 
 
The proposed block of flats would have a ‘T’ shaped footprint measuring 17.6m wide 
by 17.4m deep and 8.1m high with a pitched roof. The southern elevation would 
incorporate a porch with a pitched roof which provides access to two of the flats. 
Elsewhere a pitched roof canopy would be provided above the other entrances to the 
flats. The windows serving the flats would also emphasise a vertical rhythm and the 
external finishes would comprise rendered elevations with a slate roof and timber 
front doors. 
 
Due to the sloping nature of the site, significant retaining works would be carried out 
to the rear of the properties and along the western boundary of the site in order to 
provide raised rear garden areas and to support the land around the Cancer Aid 
Centre, which is elevated above the site. The land at the northern part of the site 
(adjacent to Upper Union Street) would be re-profiled to create a level plateau. The 
retaining walls would vary between 1-4 metres high and would be constructed with a 
stone finish. Along the top of these walls there would be 1.2 metre high railings to 
enclose the amenity spaces. 
 

Page 20



A proposed landscaping scheme has been submitted setting out the key areas 
where planting can be incorporated into the development. The planting of mixed 
shrubs and hedging is proposed in front of the principle elevations of the flats and 
within the communal car parking area. A defensible shrub mix would be planted 
along the northern boundary of the site which abuts the Cancer Aid Centre. 
Additionally, wall climbing plants would be provided along the bottom and across the 
top of the retaining walls. 
 
In support of this application the following documents have been submitted: 
 

 Pre-application Consultation Report 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 

 Desk Study and Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 Site Investigation Report 

 Drainage Strategy 

 Ecological Assessment 

 Arboricultural Report 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/08/0214 - Erection of 2 No. semi-detached dwellings and 5 No. detached  

dwellings. 
 
   Permission was GRANTED on 05.06.2009 
 
P/82/0018 - Residential development for self-build plots (outline). 
 
   Permission GRANTED on 03.03.1982 
 
P/78/0386 - Housing development of 39 units (4 and 5 person units). 
 
   Permission GRANTED on 05.07.1978 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Internal consultees 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader  - No objection subject to conditions relating to 
structural  

design, retaining works, drainage and access. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Conservation Officer - No objection subject to the use of appropriate 
material  

finishes and the integration of suitable soft 
landscaping. 

 
 

Page 21



Planning Division’s 
Ecologist   - No objection subject to a condition relating to the  

recommendations of the ecological assessments 
to minimise any harm to wildlife. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect - No objection subject to a condition relating to the  

removal of Japanese Knotweed. 
 
Environmental Health 
Manager   - No response. 
 
External consultees 
 
Glamorgan Gwent 
Archaeological Trust - No objection subject to a condition for the 

provision of a watching brief before any ground 
works takes place. 

 
The Coal Authority  - No objection. 
 
Welsh Water   - No objection. 
 
Wales & West Utilities - No objection. 
 
Western Power Dist. - No response. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2016, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on the 
25th October 2018, 3 site notices were displayed in the vicinity of the site on the 25th 
October 2018, and a notice was placed in the local press on the 30th October 2018.  
 
As a result of this publicity exercise, 60 letters of objection were received along with 
a petition, which includes a total of 819 signatures. The following is a summary of the 
concerns raised:  
 

 There would be an impact on the community that utilise the Cancer Aid 
Centre. The higher density development with retaining walls and fencing 
enclosures would convey the feeling of a repressive environment and 
would impact on the level of serenity patients can expect.  

 The additional traffic and noise generated by the development in close 
proximity to the Cancer Aid Centre would impact on the patient’s 
wellbeing.  

 There would be a loss of basic rights to privacy and dignity for patients 
visiting the Cancer Aid Centre. 

 The fact that planning permission was previously granted at the site is 
misleading, as the earlier permission was for a smaller development 

Page 22



comprising 7 cottage-sized dwellings and therefore would have a lesser 
impact.  

 The advice given at pre-application stage, relating to parking in front of the 
bungalows, landscaping and the design of the retaining walls have not 
been addressed. 

 The significant amount of retaining works required and lack of landscaping 
would have a detrimental impact on the Dowlais Conservation Area. 

 There are concerns with parking along Commercial Street and East 
Street.  

 The parking in front of the proposed bungalows appears to have an 
extremely difficult turning arrangement, resulting in vehicles undoubtedly 
reversing onto the highway. The development requires vehicles to egress 
directly onto the junction of Upper Union Street which poses significant 
risk.  

 The development would have a significant effect on traffic, especially with 
20 flats being constructed at St Johns Church. 

 A highway safety assessment of the traffic issues should be completed to 
address the initial comments from the Highway Department. 

 The provision of a 2 tier retaining wall with a fence above will give the 
appearance of a heavily fortified embankment and will produce a 
depressing environment. The use of a wood grain appearance on cast 
concrete walls would also be unsympathetic to the conservation area. 

 The disturbance to the ground may impact on the ability of the site to 
accommodate a suitable drainage scheme. 

 There is potential for the development to result in a loss of support from 
benefactors if the Cancer Aid Centre is seen to diminish and will collapse 
through financial difficulties. 

 The block of flats would result in an unacceptable level of overlooking into 
the bedroom windows of the properties along East Street. 

 Pollution and fumes from the building/construction works will have an 
impact on the health of the patients of the Cancer Aid Centre whose 
resistance is already low. 

 
Following amendments to the proposed development (i.e. removal of two bungalows 
at the top of the site and alterations to the retaining walls/boundary treatments) a 
further publicity exercise was carried out in the form of letters sent to neighbouring 
properties on the 23rd January 2019. At the time of writing this report, no further 
representations have been received. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 10, December 2018: 
 
Para 3.5 – 3.15 sets out the importance of high quality design to ensure inclusive 
design, to promote environmental sustainability and ensure high environmental 

Page 23



quality. Regard should also be given to the special characteristics of an area, 
community safety and to encourage sustainable forms of transport. 
 
Para 3.51 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Para 4.1.43 – 4.1.55 sets out the need to reduce the level and speed of traffic in new 
development, the provision of car parking and how this may be integrated into new 
development to minimise the reliance of cars. Transport assessments are also an 
important mechanism to determine anticipated impacts a development proposal may 
have. 
 
Para 4.2.25 – 4.2.34 sets out the need to have regard for the provision of affordable 
housing in communities and to ensure that they are accessible to those who cannot 
afford market housing, both on first occupation and for subsequent occupiers. 
 
Para 6.1.10 states that there should be a general presumption in favour of the 
preservation or enhancement of a listed building and its setting. 
 
Para 6.1.14 states that there should a general presumption in favour of the 
preservation or enhancement of the character or appearance of conservation areas 
or their setting. 
 
Para 6.1.23 – 6.1.27 sets out the requirement to consider any potential impacts on 
archaeological remains. 
 
Para 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 notes that local authorities should seek to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any 
adverse environmental effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. 
Regard should also be given to the potential harm to any protected species and 
habitats. 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TAN) 
 

 TAN 5, Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 12, Design, March 2016 
 

Local planning policy  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 BW1 - Development Strategy - Primary Growth Area 

 BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 BW5 - Natural heritage 

 BW6 - Built heritage 

 BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

Page 24



 BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits 

 AS4 - Historic landscape 

 AS22 - Affordable housing contributions  

 TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012 

 SPG 2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
Other guidance: 
 

 Dowlais Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management Plan, 
January 2014 

 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Primary Growth 
Area as defined by policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP, where the majority of new 
development is generally encouraged. Given the predominantly residential nature of 
the area, the construction of dwellings would be an appropriate form of development 
on the site. Additionally, it is noted that planning permission was previously granted 
(Ref P/08/0214) on the site for 7 dwellings. As such, the principle of residential 
development has already been established. 
 
Design and heritage 
 
The application site lies within the Dowlais Conservation Area which is designated 
for its links to the Dowlais and Ivor Iron Works. Notably within the area are a number 
grade II listed buildings, being the Dowlais Public Library, St John’s Church and the 
Dowlais Works Stables, which surround the application site. Additionally, adjacent to 
the site (to the west) is an area of public open space. 
 
The existing residential properties in the vicinity of the site vary in their style with 
modern semi-detached and terraced dwellings located to the north along Church 
Row and to the south along East Street. These properties are of a modest design 
with a simple arrangement of doors and windows, some incorporating front porches. 
Their external appearances comprise a mixture of brickwork finishes and render on 
the elevations with concrete roof tiles. To the east (along Market Street) the 
dwellings are of a more traditional design in terms of their proportions with narrow 
frontages. These properties largely have rendered elevations and slate roofs with 
some also incorporating natural stonework. The dwellings in the area generally do 
not present a strong feature that reinforces the historic character or appearance of 
the conservation area. In this context the proposed two storey buildings would be of 
a suitable scale that sits comfortably within the site adjacent to the Cancer Aid 
Centre and reflects the domestic scale of other residential properties in the area. The 

Page 25



appearance of the dwellings would also reflect the more traditional style of properties 
seen along Market Street with external finishes that complement the character of the 
area. 
 
A prominent aspect to the proposal would be the provision of retaining walls required 
in order to accommodate the development within the site. Notably there would be a 
retaining wall that extends along the western boundary of the site, which would be 
visible from the grade II listed Dowlais Public Library. The presence of long and high 
boundary walls is a characteristic of the area. In the vicinity there are stone walls that 
form the boundary to the St John’s Church, the public open space and adjacent 
public car park. As such, the proposed retaining walls, which would have a natural 
stonework finish, would not appear out of context with the area. To enhance the 
quality of the development further, it is proposed that planting would be introduced 
across the top of the walls. This would help to provide attractive boundaries and 
assists in softening any visual impacts of the walls. Additionally, railings have been 
used instead of fencing (where appropriate) to improve the appearance of the 
development and limit the otherwise overly dominant boundaries. 
 
The land within the northern part of the site (to the side of the Cancer Aid Centre) 
would be re-profiled to provide a level area. The nature of these works is such that it 
would not greatly affect the character or appearance of the area. 
 
It is identified in the Dowlais Conservation Area Character Appraisal and 
Management Plan, that there is an opportunity to develop the land within the 
application site to assist in providing further enclosure around the public open space. 
In this regard, the block of flats on the eastern corner of the site helps to provide this 
enclosure while presenting a frontage on to both Commercial Street and East Street. 
 
Given the historic importance of the area, an Archaeological Assessment has been 
submitted in support of the application. The report concludes that the scale of the 
development would be appropriate for the area and would not detract from the 
prominence of key historic buildings in the vicinity. It is acknowledged that the 
Planning Division’s Conservation Officer has not raised an objection to the 
development, but notes that the design quality of the retaining walls is an important 
aspect of the development. In this regard, the introduction of soft planting improves 
the visual appearance of the development within the conservation area. 
 
The development is deemed to be of an appropriate design, which preserves the 
character and appearance of the Dowlais Conservation Area and does not adversely 
impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings. Therefore the proposal complies with 
policies BW6 and BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Amenities 
 
The properties that have the greatest potential to be affected by the development are 
the terraced residential properties along East Street to the south and the Cancer Aid 
Centre, which adjoins the site to the north. 
 
The Cancer Aid Centre would be in an elevated position in relation to the 
development and the proposed dwellings would be situated approximately 18m from 

Page 26



the main building and 7m away from the boundary of its car park. Due to the 
topography of the site, it is mainly the roofs of the development that would be seen 
from the Cancer Aid Centre. The submitted landscaping plan also proposes the 
planting of a defensible shrub mix along the northern boundary of the site, which 
would provide additional screening of the development and ensure privacy to the 
upper rear garden areas. Taking into account the proposed levels, separation 
distance and the implementation of appropriate boundary treatments/landscaping, 
the development would not have a significant adverse impact on the Cancer Aid 
Centre in terms of overlooking or overbearing impacts. 
 
It is acknowledged that a number of representations were received from the Cancer 
Aid Centre and its patients raising concerns in respect of potential noise and 
disturbance. In particular the initial proposal included two bungalows on the upper 
(northern) part of the site, which would have been located closer to the Cancer Aid 
Centre. Concerns were raised that the close proximity of the bungalows to existing 
consulting rooms and the noisy activities that may be attributed to a residential use 
would impact on the well-being of the patients and the level of care they receive. 
This issue is no longer deemed to be a concern given that the bungalows have been 
omitted from this application. In terms of the siting of the proposed dwellings, these 
would be a sufficient distance away from the Cancer Aid Centre building to not give 
rise to adverse noise and disturbance concerns. 
 
The existing properties along East Street are setback 6–8 metres away from the 
highway and are at a lower level. Their rear garden areas are all enclosed with 
palisade fencing, with a small number having introduced additional screening. It 
should be noted that these gardens currently afford little privacy from pedestrians 
along the existing highway. Furthermore, the windows on the rear elevations of these 
properties, particularly at first floor level are quite small, some of which appear to 
serve bathrooms. 
 
The proposed dwellings would be positioned between 14–16 metres away from the 
terraced properties along East Street and their ground floor would be at a similar 
level to the highway. There would no doubt be a degree of overlooking into the rear 
gardens of the existing terraces, largely due to the nature of the existing boundary 
treatments, which offer little screening. There would be some inter-visibility between 
the first floor windows. Taking into the account the separation distance and the size 
of the window openings to the rear of the terraced properties, it is considered that the 
development would not give rise to significant overlooking concerns. Whilst the siting 
of the proposed dwellings is similar to the scheme previously approved (P/08/0214), 
they would be positioned at a lower level, which helps to further minimise the 
potential for overlooking. 
 
For the reasons above, the development would appropriately integrate with the 
surrounding area without adversely impacting on the amenities of existing residents 
and neighbouring properties. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW7 of 
the LDP. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



Highways 
 
Access to each of the semi-detached properties and flats would be via East Street, 
which extends along the rear boundaries of adjacent terraced properties. This road 
has a carriageway measuring approximately 4.2m wide with a 1.8m wide footpath 
along one side. It is noted that the existing residents utilise East Street for parking 
given that there is limited parking available to the front of their properties. 
 
As part of the development, a new 2m wide footpath would be provided within the 
site along one side of the carriageway, which would link to the existing footpath on 
Commercial Street. The development would also provide two parking spaces to the 
side of each semi-detached property, as well as one parking space for each of the 
flats within a communal parking area. As such, adequate off-street parking provision 
would be created to serve the development, which would minimise the pressure of 
further parking along East Street. 
 
The highway serving the development would be capable of accommodating two-way 
traffic, albeit, hindered in places by on-street parking. Whilst this road provides 
access onto Commercial Street to the east and access onto Church Street to the 
west (in front of the library), it appears that it is generally a minor road that largely 
serves the existing residents along East Street. The bulk of any traffic in the area 
would likely travel along Commercial Street and Upper Union Street, given that they 
provide links to the wider area. The level of traffic generated by the proposed 
development (comprising 1 and 2 bedroom residential units) would not significantly 
increase the level of traffic in the area. It has been demonstrated that vehicles within 
the site could adequately egress onto East Street and that there would remain 
adequate driver visibility at the junctions onto Commercial Street and Church Street.  
 
The existing highway is deemed to have sufficient capacity to accommodate the 
development without adversely impacting on the free flow of traffic or the on-street 
parking available for existing residents. In this regard, it is acknowledged that the 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not raised any highway safety concerns. 
Therefore, the proposal complies with policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Ecology 
 
An Ecological Assessment has been carried out to determine any potential impacts 
on protected species or habitats. It is noted in the report that the grassland, scrub 
and scattered trees have some value to fauna, such as for foraging bats, birds and 
invertebrates, but is not deemed to be of any significance. As such, the report 
concludes that the development would unlikely have an adverse impact on protected 
species or habitats. In this regard, it is noted that the Planning Division’s Ecologist is 
satisfied with the assessment provided and has not raised any objection to the 
development.  
 
An Aboricultural Report has been submitted in support of the application, which 
notes a small group of sprawling low quality Goat Willow trees in the south-west part 
of the site. The report considers these trees are prone to failure and already have 
some dead/declining branches. Therefore, the report does not recommend any of 
the trees should be retained. 

Page 28



 
It has been adequately demonstrated that the development would not have an 
adverse impact on any trees or wildlife within the site. Therefore the proposal 
complies with policy BW5 of the LDP 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site is located in an area identified by The Coal Authority to be at 
high risk to past coal mining activities. As such, a preliminary Risk Assessment has 
been submitted in support of the application. It is concluded in the report that there 
were no significant coal seams beneath the site and as such there would be a low 
risk from past coal mining. However, there is potential for ironstone workings in the 
area likely relating to the Rosser Ironstone seam. Notwithstanding this, the report 
notes that the workings of the ironstone seam would not have likely progressed 
under the site. In this regard the report recommends an intrusive site investigation be 
carried out to confirm the ground conditions and inform the appropriate foundation 
design. It is acknowledged that The Coal Authority has not raised any objection to 
the development. Therefore, it is considered that the site can be appropriately 
developed without posing a significant risk. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP consider the requirements for planning 
obligations and affordable housing respectively. In order to ensure the delivery of 
affordable housing across the County Borough, Policy AS22 seeks, on sites where 
10 or more dwellings are proposed within the Primary Growth Area, the provision of 
10% on-site affordable housing. In this instance, the proposal would provide 100% 
affordable housing accommodation (managed by Merthyr Housing), which can be 
secured by means of an appropriately worded condition. Therefore, the proposal 
would comply with policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP. 
 
Representations 
 
In addition to the above, the following are responses to some of the other concerns 
raised as a result of the publicity exercise: 
 

 Whilst the planning history to an application site is a material consideration, 
the details of each application and the impact it may have on the surrounding 
area is assessed on its own merits. 

 In addition to the pre-application advice given, further amendments to the 
proposed development have been sought through the application process, 
which helps address the initial concerns raised. 

 The two bungalows initially proposed on the upper level of the site have now 
been omitted from the application, which essentially addressed the concerns 
raised in respect of the access and parking to these properties. 

 The provision of a highway safety audit was not deemed necessary following 
the omission of the two bungalows from the application. 

 Details of a proposed drainage strategy have been submitted with the 
application. In this regard, it is acknowledged that Welsh Water has not raised 
any objection to the proposal. 

Page 29



 The potential financial implication to the Cancer Aid Centre is not a material 
planning consideration. 

 To minimise any issues concerning pollution and fumes (i.e. dust), which may 
impact on the amenities of the surrounding properties during construction, a 
condition can be imposed to ensure a construction management plan is 
agreed. 

 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have 
been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh 
Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons the proposed development is acceptable and complies with 
the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 

 

 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 
decision. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents: 
  
 Drawing No. SK11 Rev P2 (Vehicle Manoeuvres and Visibility Splays), 

received 23.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A112 Rev G (Proposed Site Layout), received 22.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A113 Rev B (Floor Plan - Plots 1 & 2), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A114 Rev B (Elevations - Plots 1 & 2), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A115 Rev B (Floor Plan - Plots 3 & 4), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A116 Rev B (Floor Plan - Plots 3 & 4), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A117 Rev B (Ground Floor Plan - Plots 5 - 10), received 

21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A118 Rev B (First Floor Plan - Plots 5 - 10), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A119 Rev B (Front & Rear Elevations Plots 5-10), received 

21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A120 Rev B (Side Elevations Plots 5-10), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A123 Rev F (Context Elevations), received 22.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A124 Rev D (Site Sections), received 21.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A125 Rev B (Perspective View 1), received 21.01.2019 

Page 30



 Drawing No. A126 Rev D (Perspective View 2), received 22.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A127 Rev B (Perspective View 3), received 22.01.2019 
 Drawing No. A128 Rev C (Proposed Landscape Layout), received 21.01.2019 
 Ecological Assessment (prepared by David Clements Ecology Ltd), dated 

May 2017 
 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment (prepared by Archaeology Wales), 

dated May 2017 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define 

the scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the dwellings hereby approved details/samples 

of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 

development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 4. Prior to works commencing on site details/samples of the railings and 

stonework facing material to be used on the retaining walls, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The retaining walls 
and boundary treatments (as illustrated in drawing No. A112 Rev G) shall be 
fully completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 5. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a 
scheme of landscaping. The soft landscape works shall include planting 
plans, written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants noting 
species, plant supply sizes and proposed numbers/densities where 
appropriate and an implementation programme (including phasing of work 
where relevant). 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 6. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 

Page 31



period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 7. No development shall take place, or site clearance, until details of a 

scheme for the eradication of Japanese Knotweed (Fallonica japonica, Rouse 
decraene, Polygonum cuspidatum) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason - To ensure compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 8. No development shall take place until details, including structural 

calculations, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
walls shall be completed in accordance with the approved details before the 
development hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with 

Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan . 
 
 9. No development shall take place until a site investigation has been carried 

out in accordance with a methodology first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The results of the site investigation 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority before any development 
begins. If any land instability issues are found during the site investigation, a 
report specifying the measures to be taken to remediate the site to render it 
suitable for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Remedial measures shall be carried out prior to 
the occupation of any dwelling, in accordance with the approved details and 
retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety 

remedial measures may need to be carried out. 
 
10. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or 

successors in title, has secured agreement for a written scheme of historic 
environment mitigation which has been submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority. Thereafter, the programme of works will be fully 
carried out in accordance with the requirements and standards of the written 
scheme. 

  
 Reason - To identify and record any features of archaeological interest 

discovered during the works, in order to mitigate the impact of the works on 
archaeological resource and to accord with Policy BW6 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

Page 32



 
11. Prior to the occupation of any dwellings full construction details of a 2m 

wide footpath along the southern boundary of the site that abuts the highway, 
as illustrated on the Site Layout (Drawing No. A112, received 22nd January 
2019), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and completed to wearing course level prior to the occupation of the 
last dwelling. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policies BW12 

and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
12. No development shall commence, until a Construction Method Statement 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The statement shall provide for: 

  
 i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 iv) wheel washing facilities;  
 v) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 

construction; and 
  
 Reason - In the interests of the highway safety and free flow of traffic, to 

protect the environment and the amenities of neighbouring properties so as to 
accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
13. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 

Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of 

nuisance to occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
14. The clearance/development of the site shall be carried out in accordance with 

the recommendations set out Section 6 of the Ecological Assessment 
(Prepared by David Clements Ecology Ltd). 

  
 Reason - To minimise any potential harm to protected species and to protect 

the natural environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

 
15. The proposed residential units hereby approved shall only be used for 

affordable housing purposes in accordance with the definition of affordable 
housing as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 of Technical Advice Note (TAN) 
2: Planning and Affordable Housing (June 2006) or any future guidance that 
replaces it. The residential units shall be affordable for both the first and 
subsequent occupiers. 

Page 33



  
 Reason - To ensure an appropriate level of affordable housing is delivered in 

accordance with Policies BW19 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
16. Notwithstanding the provisions of schedule 2, part 1, class B of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended 
for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), no dormer windows shall be erected on the rear roof plane of 
any dwelling house. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 

the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, 
railings, gates or walls shall be erected within the curtilage of any dwelling 
house. 

  
 Reason - To minimise any potential overbearing impacts and the interests of 

character and appearance on the Dowlais Conservation Area in accordance 
with Policies BW6 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

DATE WRITTEN 25th January 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0350 13th November 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Construct 5,  2 bedroom 
bungalows 

Land Off Aneurin 
Crescent 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Merthyr Valleys Homes 
Ltd  
c/o Paul Overton 
Architects 
97A High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UD    

 
 
Councillor A. Barry and Councillor Thomas have requested that this application be 
reported to committee in order to consider the concerns of local residents.   
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to an open and irregular parcel of land located to the 
south of Greenwood Close, in Twynyrodyn. The grassed area slopes down 
significantly from east to the west. The site is bound by the bungalows in Greenwood 
Close to the north, the highway of Jowett Avenue to the east, the highway of 
Wheatley Place to the west and the highway of Aneurin Crescent to the south. Other 
than the bungalows in Greenwood Close, the land is surrounded by two-storey semi-
detached residential properties.  
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary – Primary Growth Area, as 
designated within the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT  
 
This application seeks full planning permission to construct 5, 2 bedroom bungalows. 
The development would consist of three, 2 bedroom bungalows facing onto 
Wheatley Place and two, 2 bedroom bungalows facing towards Aneurin Crescent. 
The supporting information submitted with the application indicates that the 5 
bungalows would provide accommodation for people over the age of 55.   
 
Each of the bungalows would measure 7.5 metres wide, 10 metres deep and 5.4 
metres in height. They would each provide 2 bedrooms, a kitchen/dining area, a 
lounge and a bathroom. A front canopy would sit above the main entrance. The 
elevations would be finished in render with coloured panels, the roof would be 
covered with concrete tiles and the windows would be UPVc. Private garden areas to 
serve each of the bungalows would be enclosed by a 1.8 metre high brick wall (some 
of which would be retaining walls). A 1.1 metre high white steel fence would be sited 
along the eastern boundary of the site, to match the existing fencing adjacent to 
Jowett Avenue. Two on-site parking spaces would be provided to serve each of the 
bungalows.   
 
PLANNING HISTORY  
 
P/18/0275 - Construction of 3, 2 bed bungalows, 2, 2 bedroom flats and 2, 1 
bedroom flats – Withdrawn: 15th October 2018 
 
CONSULTATION 
    
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader    No objection subject to 
conditions.  
 
Environmental Health  No objection, subject to 

conditions.  
 
The Coal Authority  No objection, subject to 

conditions.  
 
Western Power No response. 
 

  
  
  
  

  
   
  

Page 36



Welsh Water  No objection, subject to 
conditions.   

 
Wales and West Utilities     No objection, subject to 
conditions.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order (Wales) 2012, two site notices were displayed within the vicinity of 
the site and neighbouring properties were consulted. Four letters of objection were 
received, which raise the following concerns: 
 
-  It would result in the loss of the green space, enjoyed as a leisure space by 

children, dog walkers and the elderly, leaving no other green space for leisure 
use;  

- The bungalows would be built on the bus stop used by many residents and it is 
unknown what would happen to the bus stop;  

-  It will cause increased noise and pollution from the machinery/vehicles used in the 
construction process, which will also be a highway safety hazard for pedestrians;  

-  It will result in overcrowding and traffic chaos in an already congested area and 
result in the additional volume of traffic over-spilling onto the highway and causing 
an obstruction and a danger to pedestrians and other users of the highway;  

-  It will result in overlooking and loss of privacy; 
-  The estate is already crowded and the bungalows will make the estate look 

unsightly; 
-  Dust and debris will potentially damage properties, some of which have been 

recently painted. 
  
National Planning Policies  
 
- Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 10, December 2018) 
 
Paragraph 3.3 refers to good design and states that ‘…design is not just about the 
architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and 
built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable 
development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, 
environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, 
how buildings and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, 
operation, management, and its relationship with the surroundings area…’ 
 
Paragraph 3.9 refers to character and states that ‘…the special characteristics of an 
area should be central to the design of a development. The layout, form, scale and 
visual appearance of a proposed development and its relationship to its surroundings 
are important planning considerations. A clear rationale behind the design decisions 
made, based on site and context analysis, a strong vision, performance 
requirements and design principles, should be sought throughout the development 
process and expressed, when appropriate, in a design and access statement…’ 
 

Page 37



Paragraph 3.14 refers to context appraisal and states that these ‘…should be used 
to determine the appropriateness of a development proposal in responding to its 
surroundings. This process will ensure that a development is well integrated into the 
fabric of the existing built environment. The analysis process will highlight constraints 
and opportunities presented by existing settlement structure and uses, landscape, 
biodiversity, water environment, movement, infrastructure, materials and resources, 
soundscape and built form which will need to be considered when formulating 
proposals…’ 
 
Paragraph 3.51 states that ‘…previously developed (also referred to as brownfield) 
land should, wherever possible, be used in preference to greenfield sites where it is 
suitable for development. In settlements, such land should generally be considered 
suitable for appropriate development where its re-use will promote sustainability 
principles and any constraints can be overcome. It is recognised, however, that not 
all previously developed land is suitable for development…’ 
 
Paragraph 4.2.17 goes on to state that ‘…maximising the use of suitable previously 
developed and/or underutilised land for housing development can assist 
regeneration and at the same time relieve pressure for development on greenfield 
sites…’ 
 
 - TAN (Technical Advice Note)  
 
TAN 12: Design (2016) – This TAN advises that the Welsh Government is strongly 
committed to achieving the delivery of good design in the built and natural 
environment, which is fit for purpose and deliver environmental sustainability, 
economic development and social inclusion at every scale throughout Wales. 
 
Local Planning Policies 
 
- The Adopted Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan LDP 2006-2021 
 

BW1 – Development Strategy – Primary Growth Area 
BW4 – Settlement Boundaries/Locational Constraints  
BW7 – Sustainable Design and Place Making 
BW8 – Development and the Water Environment 
BW12 – Development Proposals and Transport 
BW16 – Protecting/Enhancing the Network of Leisure Facilities  
BW17 – Securing Community Infrastructure Benefits 
BW18 – Contaminated Land 
AS22 – Affordable Housing Contributions  
TB11 – Access, Parking and Accessibility of Local Facilities 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

 
SPG No. 1: Affordable Housing (March 2012) 
SPG No. 2: Planning Obligations (March 2012) 
SPG No. 4: Sustainable Design (July 2013) 

 
 

Page 38



Other Guidance:  
 
 Merthyr Tydfil Open Space Strategy (June 2016) 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary as such LDP Policy BW4 is a 
relevant policy consideration. This policy states that new development within the 
settlement ‘…will be allowed providing it is compatible with other relevant plan 
policies and material planning considerations…’ The proposed construction of 5 
bungalows would therefore be supported by LDP Policy BW4. Therefore, the main 
issues to consider when assessing this application relate to whether the proposed 
development would be acceptable with regards to its impact upon the character and 
appearance of the area, residential amenity, parking provision and highway safety.         
 
Character and Appearance  
 
The application site forms the southern end of a broadly oval shaped ‘island’ 
sandwiched between Jowett Avenue and Wheatley Place. This ‘island’ has grassed 
areas to both its northern and southern ends with the central larger portion made up 
of semi-detached and terraced bungalows. Neither the application site nor the 
northern end of this ‘island’ is identified in the Merthyr Tydfil Open Space Strategy as 
areas of land that warrant protection.  Nevertheless, any development of this site 
needs to compliment the character and appearance of the immediate locality. The 
proposal to extend the existing development of bungalows to the north is considered 
a sympathetic design response to the sites immediate context. Landscaped areas at 
the Wheatley Place/Aneurin Crescent junction and along the entire boundary with 
Jowett Avenue would help to soften the boundaries and provide a visually 
sympathetic development.    
 
The three bungalows to the west of the site, just off Wheatley Place, would be 
developed on the flattest part of the site and as such, there would be no deviation in 
their roof height. The 2 bungalows to the south of the site, just off Aneurin Crescent 
would be stepped in respect of their roof height, to follow the topography of the land.   
 
The bungalows would share similar characteristics in terms of their scale and 
appearance to the existing bungalows to the north of the site. Furthermore, the 
concrete roof tiles and rendered elevations would also be consistent with the 
material finishes of these neighbouring bungalows. A central canopy and doorway 
set between two front windows would frame the entrance into the properties and add 
interest to their primary elevation. Thus, it is considered that the well-proportioned 
design of the bungalows is reflective of existing dwellings in the immediate context 
and would not detract from the character or appearance of the area. The proposal 
would therefore comply with LDP Policy BW7. 
   
Residential Amenity 
 
Arguably, the greatest impact from the proposed bungalows, in terms of overlooking, 
overbearing impact and loss of light would be to the bungalows located to the north 
of the site, namely 13 and 14 Greenwood Close. The closest bungalow would be 

Page 39



sited over 8 metres from these neighbouring properties. Given this distance and the 
fact the proposed bungalows would be set below the level of these properties 
ensures that there would be little overbearing impact, overlooking or loss of light.  
 
Similarly, the impact of the proposed bungalows on the existing two-storey dwellings 
surrounding the site (i.e. those in Wheatley Avenue, Jowett Avenue and Aneurin 
Crescent) would also be safeguarded. As such, given the single storey nature of the 
development and the intervening roads and/or topography, the proposal would not 
harm the amenity of surrounding residents in terms of overbearing impact, 
overlooking or loss of light. The proposal would therefore comply with LDP Policy 
BW7.  
 
Parking and Highway Safety  
 
The proposed bungalows would each be served by 2 parking spaces with 3 
bungalows accessed off Wheatley Place and 2 bungalows accessed off Aneurin 
Crescent. The Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has considered the proposal 
and does not consider that the bungalows with associated parking would be 
detrimental to highway or pedestrian safety. The surrounding roads are also 
sufficient to cater for the increase in vehicular movements from the proposed 
development. As such no objection has been raised. The proposed development 
would therefore not give rise to adverse highway/pedestrian safety concerns or 
impinge the free flow of traffic within the vicinity. The proposal would therefore 
comply with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP.      
 
Responses to Representations 
 
Many of the concerns raised by local residents have been considered above. Other 
concerns raised are addressed below: 
 
- Although there are not any signs indicating a designated bus stop, there does not 
seem to be any reason why buses could not continue to stop on the highway to the 
south of the site (Aneurin Crescent) if the proposal is developed;   
 
- The construction noise and traffic disruptions associated with the proposed 
development will be temporary as with any new development. However a condition is 
recommended in respect of construction times, in order to protect the amenities of 
nearby occupiers;  
 
- Any damage to neighbouring properties as a result of the construction works would 
be a civil matter between the relevant parties. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The proposed development, although resulting in the loss of a grassed area, is 
deemed a sympathetic design response in context with its surrounding built 
environment, which would not detract from the amenities of nearby occupiers or 
cause an adverse impact on highway safety. The proposal is therefore considered 
acceptable and would comply with the relevant LDP policies. 
 

Page 40



Furthermore, I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”). In reaching this decision, I have taken into 
account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I consider that 
this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out 
as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act.    
 
Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
  
 - Project No. 7858, Drawing No. 11, revision A, received: 11th December 

2018; 
 - Project No. 7858, Drawing No. 12, revision A, received: 26th November 

2018; 
 - Project No. 7858, Drawing No. 13, received: 11th December 2018. 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define 

the scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the dwellings hereby approved details/samples of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 

development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall take place until full engineering details and sections, 

including structural calculations and materials, of any retaining wall which 
exceeds 1 metre in height have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details before the development hereby approved is brought 
into beneficial use.  

  

Page 41



 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with 
Policies BW6 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 

 
 5. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence until 

details of a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface water, to incorporate 
SUDS principles, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and retained in 
perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 6. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 

Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of 

nuisance to occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 7. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a 
scheme of landscaping. The scheme shall include indications of all existing 
trees (including spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify 
those to be retained and set out measures for their protection throughout the 
course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 8. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 9. No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination 

investigation has been carried out. The Phase 1 report shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of any necessary Phase 2 investigation.  

  

Page 42



 - The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed receptors, 
i.e. humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, 
ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments. The 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11".  

  
 - The report shall be prepared by a "competent person" and shall be in 

accordance with BS10175:2011 Code of Practice for the Investigation of 
Potentially Contaminated Sites. 

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
10. Should the Phase 1 Contamination investigation carried out under condition 9 

Identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no development shall 
take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 

  
 - A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the Phase 2 
investigation. 

  
 - The completed Phase 2 investigation report together with any necessary 

outline remediation options shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being 
carried out. 

  
 - The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed receptors, 

i.e. humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, 
ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments. The 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR11" 

  
 - The report shall be prepared by a "competent person" and shall be in 

accordance with BS10175:2011 Code of Practice for the Investigation of 
Potentially Contaminated Sites. 

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to future users of land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

 

Page 43



11. Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary 
under condition 10, no development shall take place until a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, controlled waters, 
buildings, other property and the natural and historic environment, has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, a timetable of works and site management procedures 
and details of any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring 
programme. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 or 
any subsequent version, in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to future users of the 

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

 
12. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 

scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a 
verification report (or validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of 
the remediation carried out must be produced together with any necessary 
monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer 
notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. The monitoring and maintenance programme 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
13. No development shall take place until the undertaking of an appropriate 

scheme of intrusive site investigations, which shall be prepared and 
conducted by a suitably competent person, has been carried out and a report 
of the findings arising from the intrusive site investigations, which shall also be 
prepared by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. In the event that the site 
investigations confirm the need for remedial works to treat areas of shallow 
mine workings, any remedial works identified by the site investigation shall be 
undertaken prior to the commencement of development.  

  
 Reason - In the interests of the safety and stability of the site and 

development. 
 

Page 44



14. The boundary treatments as illustrated on drawing no. 12, Rev A, received 
26th November 2018 shall be completed as approved and retained in 
perpetuity before the occupation of the bungalows.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

  
 
 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DATE WRITTEN 25th January 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0392 18th December 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential development Land North Of Pant 

Industrial Estate 
Bryniau Road 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Suffolk Life Trustees  
c/o Viv Jones 
114 Brecon Road 
Hirwaun 
RCT 
CF44 9NS    

 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an area of land that is broadly triangular in shape 
measuring approximately 0.89 of a hectare. The northern boundary of the site (158m 
in length) provides a prominent frontage onto the main highway (Bryniau Road), with 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



the open countryside beyond, which forms part of the Merthyr Common. To the 
south-east of the site is Pant Industrial Estate, with a car park, commercial building 
and associated external storage area, which abut the boundary. There is also an 
existing palisade gate which provides access from the application site into the 
industrial estate. To the south-west, the site is bound partly by an enclosed 
basketball court and vacant land with playing fields beyond. 
 
The site itself comprises a large area of open grassland that is enclosed partly by a 
post and wire fence and palisade fencing. The land slopes down from the north to 
the south with a steep embankment along the northern boundary. There are no 
significant features within the site other than a small number of bushes and a few 
mature trees adjacent to the southern boundary. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for the residential development of the site. All 
matters relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale have been 
reserved for future consideration. As such, it is only the principle of the development 
which is to be determined. 
 
An indicative layout plan has been submitted in support of this application which 
illustrates a potential scheme for 26 dwellings, comprising 6 detached and 20 semi-
detached properties. The scale parameters for these dwellings would measure 
between 4.5m to 7.5m wide by 7.5m to 10m deep and 7m to 9.5m high. It is 
suggested that these dwellings would be positioned along the northern, western and 
southern parts of the site and would be orientated to front onto a central area of 
public open space. 
 
The layout plan indicates a possible landscaping approach, which involves the 
planting of hedgerows along the north, west and south-east boundaries of the site. 
This would help to screen the development from the adjoining industrial estate and 
provide attractive boundaries. It is also indicated that the area of open space could 
also be planted with small groups of trees and could be utilised to provide a 
sustainable drainage system. 
 
Access into the site is shown on the indicative plan to be provided off Bryniau Road. 
A new road could then be provided into the site, which then extends around the area 
of open space. In the southern and north-east corners of the site, private roads 
(measuring 4.5m wide) could also be provided to serve a small number of dwellings. 
Each plot could accommodate at least 2 parking spaces on driveways to the side of 
the dwellings. The existing pedestrian link into the industrial estate could also be 
retained as part of the development. 
 
In support of this application the following documents have been submitted: 
 

 Pre-application Consultation Report 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 Access Appraisal 

 Coal Mining Risk Assessment 

Page 48



 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/18/0257 - Residential development 
 
   Application WITHDRAWN on 26.10.2018 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader   - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

visibility splays, ground investigation, 
drainage, road safety audit and access 
details. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Landscaping Officer   - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

landscaping and sustainable drainage. 
 
Environmental Health  
Manager    - No response 
 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to a condition relating 
to  

surface water and land drainage. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on the 
20th December 2018 and four site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the 
site on the 21st December 2018. Additionally, a notice was placed in the local 
newspaper on the 10th January 2019. 
 
No representations were received as a result of this publicity exercise. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 10, December 2018: 
 
Para 3.5 – 3.15 sets out the importance of high quality design to ensure inclusive 
design, to promote environmental sustainability and ensure high environmental 
quality. Regard should also be given to the special characteristics of an area, 
community safety and to encourage sustainable forms of transport. 
 

Page 49



Para 3.51 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Para 4.1.43 – 4.1.55 sets out the need to reduce the level and speed of traffic in new 
development, the provision of car parking and how this may be integrated into new 
development to minimise the reliance of cars. Transport assessments are also an 
important mechanism to determine anticipated impacts a development proposal may 
have. 
 
Para 4.2.25 – 4.2.34 sets out the need to have regard for the provision of affordable 
housing in communities and to ensure that they are accessible to those who cannot 
afford market housing, both on first occupation and for subsequent occupiers. 
 
Para 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 notes that local authorities should seek to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any 
adverse environmental effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. 
Regard should also be given to any potential impacts on protected species may 
result in disturbance or harm to the species or its habitat. 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TAN) 
 

 TAN 5, Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 12, Design, March 2016 

 TAN 12, Guidance on Design and Access Statements, March 2016 
 

Local planning policy  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 BW1 - Development Strategy - Primary Growth Area 

 BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 BW5 - Natural heritage 

 BW6 - Built heritage 

 BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits 

 AS4 - Historic landscape 

 AS22 - Affordable housing contributions  

 TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012 

 SPG 2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 

Page 50



PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Primary Growth 
Area as defined by policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP, where the majority of new 
development is generally encouraged. Whilst the development would adjoin an 
established industrial estate, the proposal would be situated close to the main 
residential area of Pant, which is also located opposite the industrial estate i.e. Heol 
Rhyd Y Bedd. As such, the principle of residential development is acceptable and 
would be compatible adjacent to the existing industrial uses. This would be subject to 
careful consideration of the future design, layout, landscaping and boundary 
treatments of the development. 
 
Design 
 
Where matters relating to the layout have been reserved for future consideration, it is 
necessary as part of an outline proposal to provide an indicative layout plan to 
demonstrate that the site can be appropriately developed. 
 
The concept of the proposal is to provide a number of detached and semi-detached 
dwellings that front onto an area of public open space, which provides a focal point 
to the development. The layout has partly been informed by the topography of the 
site and the need to provide a suitable point of access into the site, positioned a 
suitable distance away from the junction on to Heol Rhyd Y Bedd. 
 
Due to the differing levels between the site and Bryniau Road it would be difficult for 
the dwellings to front onto the highway, without either compromising the amenities of 
the future occupants or creating an awkward access arrangement. Therefore, these 
dwellings could instead provide a frontage within the site that overlooks the public 
open space. The planting of a hedgerow alongside Bryniau Road would provide an 
attractive boundary treatment that integrates the development with the open 
countryside opposite. 
 
The indicative plan demonstrates that dwellings could be adequately sited and 
orientated within the site to create suitable street scenes around an open space that 
reinforces a sense of place. The dwellings could also be positioned away from the 
adjoining industrial unit to minimise any potential impacts on future occupants. The 
planting of trees and hedgerows along the south-east boundary could also help 
screen the industrial unit and enhance the quality of the development. 
 
The scale of the proposed dwellings is considered to be appropriate for the site and 
would generally be consistent with other two storey dwellings in the surrounding 
area. Given the location of the site, there would unlikely be any impact on the 
amenities of nearby properties, the nearest being a row of terraced properties 
(approx. 25m to the north-east) which front onto Bryniau Road. 
 
It has been adequately demonstrated that the site could be developed with a layout 
that achieves a good design and integrates well with its local context. The scale of 

Page 51



the development is acceptable and there would be no adverse impacts on existing 
residents. Therefore, the proposal complies with Policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Highways 
 
The Access Appraisal submitted in support of the application, indicates that the 
potential point of access into the site from Bryniau Road, is a sufficient distance 
(97m) away from the junction onto Heol Rhyd Y Bedd. Additionally, the new junction 
onto Bryniau Road could be constructed with appropriate visibility splays of 2.4m by 
51m in both directions. The report concludes that the anticipated level of traffic 
generated by the proposed development would be modest and unlikely to have a 
material impact on the surrounding highway network. 
 
It has been demonstrated that the new roads to serve the development can be 
accommodated within the site to meet adoptable standards, in terms of the 
carriageway widths, the provision of footpaths and turning facilities. Additionally, at 
least 2 off-street parking spaces could be provided on driveways within each plot. It 
is acknowledged that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has raised no 
adverse highway safety concerns, subject to further details being provided as part of 
a reserved matters application. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW12 
and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Environment 
 
The proposal lies within 10 metres (south-east) of the Bryniau Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINC 2), with the development being separated by the main 
highway. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (EA) has been submitted in support of 
the application, which concludes that the site is overall of low/negligible ecological 
value. The habitats within the site are noted in the EA to be common and widespread 
with optimal conditions for reptiles. Accordingly, a method statement for the 
progressive clearance of vegetation within the site is proposed in order to avoid any 
harm to reptiles, in this case potentially Slow Worms, Grass Snakes, Common 
Lizards and Adders. The Planning Division’s Ecologist has previously acknowledged 
(as part of application P/18/0257) that an adequate survey of the site has been 
carried out and that the recommendations to manage any reptiles are appropriate, 
and should be secured by condition. Furthermore, the Planning Division’s Ecologist 
has acknowledged that there are Great Crested Newt habitats known within the 
adjacent SINC. However, the development is unlikely to have an impact on these 
habitats due to the intervening highway and the location of these habitats away from 
the site. Therefore, the proposal would not have a significant ecological impact and 
would comply with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site is located in an area identified by The Coal Authority to be at low 
risk from past coal mining activities. Notwithstanding this, a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment has been submitted in support of the application. It is concluded in the 
report that the risk from past coal mining activities is low and that no significant 
ground stability issues have been identified. However, the report recommends that 

Page 52



an intrusive site investigation be carried out to inform an appropriate design for the 
foundations. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP consider the requirements for planning 
obligations and affordable housing respectively. In order to ensure the delivery of 
affordable housing across the County Borough, Policy AS22 seeks, on sites where 
10 or more dwellings are proposed within the Primary Growth Area, the provision of 
10% on-site affordable housing. Based on the submitted plans, this could amount to 
the provision of 2 affordable houses, which can be secured by means of an 
appropriately worded condition. It should also be noted that the development could 
provide for an area of open public space within the site (as illustrated on the 
indicative plans), which contributes to the wellbeing of future residents. Therefore, 
the proposal would comply with policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have 
been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh 
Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
The principle of developing the site for residential purposes is acceptable and the 
submitted details adequately demonstrate that a suitable scheme could be provided 
within the site that is of an adequate design. Therefore the proposal is acceptable 
and complies with the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following 
recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 
 1. Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, 

(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development begins and 
the development shall be carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority not later than three years from the date of this 
permission. 

  

Page 53



 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the 

date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later. 

  
 Reason - To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 4. Prior to commencement of development a scheme for the provision of 

affordable housing as part of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The affordable housing 
shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the 
definition of affordable housing in Annex B of TAN 2 or any future guidance 
that replaces it.  The scheme shall include: 

  
 i)  the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable 

housing provision to be made which shall consist of not less than two of 
the housing units/bed spaces; 

 ii)  the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing 
in relation to the occupancy of the market housing; 

 iii)  the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an 
affordable housing provider or the management of the affordable 
housing (if no RSL involved); 

 iv)  the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both 
first and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and 

 v)  the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of 
occupiers of the affordable housing and the means by which such 
occupancy criteria shall be enforced. 

  
 Reason - To ensure an appropriate level of affordable housing is delivered in 

accordance with Policies BW19 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

  
5. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal 

of foul and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and retained in 
perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 6. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 

Page 54



development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 7. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be 
erected shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved prior to the 
occupation of each dwelling. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 8. No development shall take place until details, including structural 

calculations and facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre 
in height have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The walls shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details before the development hereby approved is brought into 
beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with 

Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
 9. The clearance/development of the site shall be carried out in accordance with 

the method statement set out Appendix B and E of the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal, prepared by BE Ecological Ltd. 

  
 Reason - To minimise potential harm to reptiles and to protect the natural 

environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 

DATE WRITTEN 24th January 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Mel Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/18/0192 27.06.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Construct two bedroom 
bungalow with associated 
access, parking provision 
and amenity space 

Land Opposite  
8 Railway Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Mr D Stevens 
2 Railway Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YB 

 

 

 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/18/3212310 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  19.12.2018 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 
 
 
 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 

Page 58



 

Page 59



 

Page 60



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 

DATE WRITTEN 6th December 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/18/0195 27.06.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of two storey rear 
extension 

8 Clos Pencae 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0JH 

Mr & Mrs Williams 
C/O George + Co 
Hwyl Hub 
1st Floor Woodfired Studios 
62 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/18/3214483 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  28.11.2018 
DECISION:    ALLOWED 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 
 

 

Page 62



 
 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 
 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1ST – 31st December 2018 

 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/17/0020 

 
Old Gas Works 
The Willows 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YH 
 

 
Erection of vehicle repair service 
/ MOT building with associated 
car parking and landscaping 

 
Full Approval 

 
13/12/2018 

P/18/0131 Land Adjacent To 1 
Bedlinog Terrace 
Bedlinog 
CF46 6SB 

Erection of a detached, 3 
bedroom dwelling, with 
associated access, landscaping 
and drainage works 
 

Full Approval 03/12/2018 

P/18/0151 The New Crown Inn 
28 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DP 
 

Conservatory extension and 
associated external alterations 
(including bi-fold glazed screen) 

Full Approval 07/12/2018 

P/18/0269 Former Unigate 
Dairies Ltd 
Abercanaid Industrial 
Estate 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YF 
 

Change of use from former Dairy 
(B2 use class) to a coach / bus 
depot (Sui Generis use), the 
manufacture of paving to include 
a storage shed, an office and 1 
storage container (B2 use class) 
and a self-storage business 
comprising of 30 storage 
containers (B8 use class) 
 

Full Approval 07/12/2018 

 
P/18/0298 

 
Brooklands House  
1 Ash Road 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4HH 

 
Erection of two storey rear 
extension with single storey 
extension to side 

 
Full Approval 

 
19/12/2018 

DATE WRITTEN 6th December 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 6th February 2019 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0317 

 
Land At Trebeddau 
Farm 
Penheolferthyr 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

 
Proposed detached dwelling, 
double garage and storage shed 

 
Full Approval 

 
13/12/2018 

P/18/0324 Glasfryn  
1 Newton Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RJ 
 

Proposed single storey front / 
side extension, two storey side 
extension and front and rear 
gable projections 

Full Approval 07/12/2018 

P/18/0328 Land Adjacent To The 
Stables 
Oaklands 
Cardiff Road 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construction of 3 detached 
dwellings (access, layout, scale 
and appearance to be considered 
as part of outline application) 

Refusal 12/12/2018 

P/18/0331 Taff Bargoed Centre 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6RD 
 

Installation of ground mounted 
solar farm 

Full Approval 05/12/2018 

P/18/0332 9 Criccieth Grove 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JY 
 

Erection of single storey 
side/front and rear extensions 

Full Approval 12/12/2018 

P/18/0335 Bike Park Wales 
Gethin Woodland 
Centre 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YZ 
 

Erection of new bike hire centre 
with associated bike washing 
facilities and storage areas.  
Erection of new catering unit and 
staff office building 

Full Approval 19/12/2018 

 
P/18/0338 

 
30 High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AB 
 

 
Erect first floor rear extension 

 
Full Approval 

 
13/12/2018 

Page 66



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0344 

 
Parcel Of Land Within 
Curtilage Of 
Llywenydd 
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 
 

 
Erection of 2 No. dwellings with 
associated external works 

 
Full Approval 

 
24/12/2018 

P/18/0346 General Dynamics 
Land Systems Ltd 
Merthyr Road 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LA 
 

Variation of condition 7 of 
planning permission P/15/0130 
to allow the test track to be used 
on Saturdays 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition  

21/12/2018 

P/18/0347 Cilhaul Old Age Club  
Cilhaul 
Treharris 
CF46 5HT 

Change of use of Old Age Club 
and rear store to one bedroom 
property with associated garage, 
parking provision and garden 
 

Full Approval 10/12/2018 

P/18/0348 76 Trevethick Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0HX 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 17/12/2018 

P/18/0351 47 Winifred Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Reconstruct collapsed retaining 
wall 

Full Approval 17/12/2018 

P/18/0355 Wilko  
St Tydfil Shopping 
Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of external staircase 
from new external escape door.  
Install new roller shutter within 
basement level elevation 

Full Approval 21/12/2018 

 
P/18/0361 

 
Harvesters 
Unit 11 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Leisure Village 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1UT 

 
Installation of new replacement 
illuminated and non-illuminated 
signs to exterior of building and 
within curtilage 

Advertisement 
Approval 

17/12/2018 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/18/0054  -  Land Adjacent to 17 Beechwood Drive, Heolgerrig, Merthyr Tydfil
	4 P/18/0330  -  Land at East Street and Upper Union Street, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 P/18/0350  -  Land off Aneurin Crescent, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil
	6 P/18/0392  -  Land North of Pant Industrial Estate, Bryniau Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil
	7 Appeal Decision  -  P/18/0192
	8 Appeal Decision  -  P/18/0195
	9 Delegated Report

